2009

Marilyn Hamblin v. Kent Jones : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

Jurisdiction

This court has jurisdiction under Utah Code section 78A-3-102(3).

Statement of the Issues and Standards of Review

In 2004, the state engineer rejected Marilyn Hamblin's application to change the place of use for her water right. Under Utah law, a state engineer is authorized to reject a change application on the following grounds: (i) there is no unappropriated water in the proposed source; (ii) the change would not impair existing rights or interfere with the more beneficial use of water; (iii) the change is physically or economically infeasible or would be detrimental to the public welfare; (iv) the applicant lacks the financial ability to take advantage of the change; or (v) the application is not made in good faith or is filed for purposes of speculation or monopoly. Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-3, -8(1) (2004). Here, the state engineer rejected Ms. Hamblin's change application on the ground that her water right terminated by operation of law in 1985 due to a failure to use the water right, and therefore, Ms. Hamblin had no right to the use of water that could be changed.

In 1996, the Utah Legislature amended section 73-1-4(2) of the forfeiture statute to clarify that a judicial decree is required to forfeit water rights due to a lack of water use. Utah Code Ann. § 73-1-4(2) (2004). No adjudicative body—judicial or otherwise—has declared that Ms. Hamblin's water right terminated by operation of law in 1985 or thereafter, and the district court here recognized that the state engineer lacks the authority to do so himself. The district court nonetheless ruled that (i) the state engineer did not exceed the scope of his authority because he did not “adjudicate” the status of her water right by denying the change application; and (ii) the 1996 amendment to section

73-1-4(2) does not apply retroactively to the forfeiture of water rights prior to 1996 because the 1996 amendment constituted a substantive change to section 73-1-4.

Issue 1: Whether a state engineer has authority to reject an application to change the place of water use on the sole ground that the state engineer has concluded that the water rights at issue have been forfeited, but there has been no prior finding by any adjudicative body that the water rights have been forfeited.

Standard of Review: The court reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment for correctness. Christensen & Jensen, P.C. v. Barrett & Daines, 2008 UT 64, ¶ 19, 194 P.3d 931.

Issue 2: Whether an amendment that requires a forfeiture of water rights to be declared by the judiciary—instead of by some other, or no other, entity—is procedural in nature because it merely specifies the machinery of how a legal right is adjudicated instead of altering the substance of that legal right.

Standard of Review: Whether a statute operates retroactively is a question of law that this court reviews for correctness. Evans & Sutherland Computer Corp. v. Utah State Tax Comm'n, 953 P.2d 435, 437 (Utah 1997).

Preservation: These issues were preserved at R. 1001-13; 1157-69.

Determinative Provisions

Utah Code Ann. § 73-1-4 (1980) (Add. 2); Utah Code Ann. § 73-1-4 (1985) (Add. 1 at R. 1212); Utah Code Ann. § 73-1-4 (1995) (Add. 3); Utah Code Ann. § 73-1-4 (1996) (Add. 4); Utah Code Ann. § 73-1-4 (2004) (Add. 5); Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-3 (2004) (Add. 6); and Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-8 (2004) (Add. 7).

Statement of the Case

I. Nature of the Case and Course of the Proceedings

Marilyn Hamblin holds title to Water Right 55-11041. (R. 1216.) On August 26, 2004, Ms. Hamblin filed a permanent change application (a29341) with the state engineer, with which she requested approval to change the place of use and point of diversion of her water right from Spring Creek/Provo River to the area of Highland City, Utah. (R. 1146-54, Add. 8.) On January 30, 2006, the state engineer rejected the change application. (R. 777-79, Add. 9.)

On March 1, 2006, Ms. Hamblin filed a petition for judicial review. (R. 1-26.) After the district court ordered the state engineer to issue a new order that “specif[ied] his reasons and any statutory basis for approval or rejection,” the state engineer issued a new order again rejecting the change application on January 4, 2008. (R. 322; 766-71; R. 952-58, Add. 10.) The state engineer justified his rejection on the ground that, among other things,¹ Ms. Hamblin was not a person entitled to the use of water because her water right had been forfeited in 1985 due to a lack of beneficial use. (R. 768.)

The state engineer and Ms. Hamblin stipulated to a set of uncontested facts and filed cross-motions for summary judgment. (R. 1217.) The state engineer argued that Ms. Hamblin’s water right no longer existed at the time of her change application because it had been forfeited by “operation of law” due to a lack of use. (R. 849-52.) Ms. Hamblin responded that her water right had never been subject to any forfeiture

¹ The “other things” are not at issue on appeal. Either the district court rejected the state engineer’s other grounds or the district court’s agreement with the state engineer was based entirely upon the court’s ruling that the state engineer could reject the change application because “Ms. Hamblin’s water right has been forfeited.” (R. 1198.) For this reason, forfeiture is the only issue relevant on appeal.

proceeding, in particular a judicial forfeiture proceeding required under Utah Code section 73-1-4(2). (R. 1004-10.) The state engineer does not dispute that under the 2004 version of the Utah Code, a judicial proceeding would be required, but argued that the current statute did not apply retroactively in this case because the factual predicate for forfeiture—nonuse for 5 consecutive years—was complete in 1985. (R. 1183-85.)

On July 13, 2009, the district court granted the state engineer’s motion for summary judgment and denied Ms. Hamblin’s cross-motion. (R. 1194-1217.) The district court reasoned that “Ms. Hamblin is not a ‘person entitled to the use of water’ because her water right was forfeited by operation of law in 1985, and, thus, her change application cannot be granted.” (R. 1206.) The district court’s ruling was premised on its conclusion that the 1996 amendment to section 73-1-4—which states that a forfeiture of water rights may occur only after a judicial determination concerning forfeiture—is substantive in nature and does not apply retroactively. (R. 1208-09.) The district court further concluded that the state engineer did not “adjudicate” Ms. Hamblin’s water right in rejecting the change application, even though (i) the rejection was premised upon her having forfeited her water right and (ii) no tribunal—judicial or otherwise—has ever declared that her right was forfeited. (R. 1210-12.) Ms. Hamblin appeals. (R. 1220.)

II. Statement of Facts

The relevant facts are undisputed. Ms. Hamblin is the owner of Water Right No. 55-11041, as listed in the state engineer’s water rights database. (R. 1216.) While that water right was not used between January 1, 1980, and January 1, 1985, the right also has not been the subject of a forfeiture proceeding, judicial or otherwise. (R. 1215.) These are the only facts relevant to review of the summary judgment rulings.

Summary of the Argument

The state engineer lacks the authority to reject a change application based upon his own determination that a water right has been forfeited. It is undisputed that a state engineer has never had authority under Utah law to adjudicate water rights and declare a water right forfeited. The state engineer contends, however, that he did not “adjudicate” Ms. Hamblin’s water right by rejecting her change application, even though his sole basis for rejecting her application was that she was no longer a “person entitled to the use of water” under section 73-3-3 because her water right had been forfeited in 1985.

It is difficult to understand how the state engineer could deny Ms. Hamblin something to which she is otherwise entitled on the ground that she forfeited her water rights and yet not have “adjudicated” the issue of whether she forfeited her water right. A county board of adjustment cannot deny a request for a zoning code variance, which the board otherwise has no grounds to deny, on the sole basis that an adjoining landowner could succeed in a boundary by acquiescence were the adjoining owner to file a judicial action to quiet title. The result is no different when the state engineer is asked to vary the point of diversion for a water right. The bases on which the state engineer can deny a change application are enumerated, and that enumeration does not include the state engineer determining that the factual predicate for forfeiture exists. The district court should have rejected the state engineer’s semantic argument concerning the meaning of “adjudicate.”

In addition, since 1996, section 73-1-4(2) has specified that forfeiture of a water right requires “judicial action.” The state engineer does not dispute that if a post-1996 version of section 73-1-4 applied here, then the state engineer lacked authority to reject

the change application. (R. 1183-85.) The district court refused to apply the 1996 amendment by construing the “judicial action” requirement as substantive in nature and, therefore, applicable only prospectively. The district court erred in three ways.

First, retroactive application is beside the point because Ms. Hamblin filed her change application in 2004, well after the 1996 amendment. This case does not involve a change application submitted prior to the 1996 amendment where the applicant now asks the court to apply the later enacted statute to review the state engineer’s rejection of the application. Second, the 1996 amendment is procedural in nature, as it merely specifies that the legal machinery required for forfeiture is a judicial proceeding. Procedural changes to statutes apply retroactively under Utah law. Finally, even if a specification of which entity adjudicates a forfeiture proceeding were otherwise substantive in nature, the 1996 amendment merely clarified an ambiguity in the prior statute by making express the requirement that forfeiture is effective only through judicial action. Clarifications of law also apply retroactively.

For all of these reasons, the district court erred in failing to apply the 1996 amendment to section 73-1-4. Application of the 1996 amendment would mean that the state engineer’s rejection of the change application was improper. This court should reverse the district court’s summary judgment rulings and remand with instructions to enter summary judgment in favor of Ms. Hamblin.

Argument

I. The State Engineer Lacks Authority to Declare Water Rights Forfeited

The state engineer had no authority to reject Ms. Hamblin's change application on the ground that she forfeited her water right in 1985. Under Utah law, "[t]he state engineer is an executive, not a judicial officer, and does not have authority to adjudicate the rights of water users." Butler, Crockett & Walsh Dev. Corp. v. Pinecrest Pipeline Operating Co., 2004 UT 67, ¶ 40, 98 P.3d 1.²

Consistent with this, past state engineers have recognized that they lack authority to determine whether the forfeiture of a water right has rendered a change application inappropriate. For example, the state engineer has rejected applications to appropriate additional water where the application was premised upon the forfeiture of other water rights because, the state engineer explained, "the question as to whether water once appropriated had reverted to the public [by] nonuse or abandonment required legal determinations which are generally beyond the jurisdiction of his office." Shields v. Dry Creek Irrigation Co., 12 Utah 2d 98, 100, 363 P.2d 82, 83 (1961) (emphasis added); see also Washington County Water Conservancy Dist. v. Morgan, 2003 UT 58, ¶ 3, 82 P.3d 1125 (state engineer "did not decide the question of forfeiture, noting and apparently agreeing with the [applicant's] position that a finding of forfeiture requires judicial action and therefore was beyond the state engineer's jurisdiction.") (emphasis added).

² Whitmore v. Murray City, 107 Utah 445, 450, 154 P.2d 748 (1944) (in considering change applications, state engineer "acts in an administrative capacity only and has no authority to determine rights of parties"); United States Fuel Co. v. Huntington-Cleveland Irrigation Co., 2003 UT 49, ¶ 14, 79 P.3d 945 ("[A]s a general rule, the determination of the priority of rights is a judicial function and not among the powers of the state engineer.").

Not only does the state engineer lack authority to determine that a water right has been forfeited in reviewing a change application, courts lack authority to make that determination when reviewing the state engineer's rejection of a change application. Under Utah law, a "court may not determine issues not within the power of the engineer to determine." United States v. District Court, 121 Utah 1, 8, 238 P.2d 1132 (1951). As this court has explained, "[i]n the case of an application to appropriate or to change the place of diversion or use, [the state engineer] merely approves or rejects the application without determining the priorities of the parties, although often the facts recorded or shown by the engineer's records may be conclusive as to the priorities of the rights of the parties." Id. at 8-9. In other words, even if the facts concerning priority are clear, the state engineer, and then the district court on review, lacks authority to reject a change application in a manner that adjudicates the water rights of the applicant.

The state engineer attempts to avoid these straightforward principles by asserting that he did not "adjudicate" Ms. Hamblin's water right when he rejected her change application because facts supporting forfeiture—5 years of nonuse—were undisputed. (R. 850-52.) While undisputed facts may indicate that no facts require adjudication, undisputed facts do not indicate that legal issues based upon those facts do not require adjudication. Otherwise, summary judgment would never adjudicate the merits of a claim because no facts are "adjudicated." For that reason, whether the facts supporting the forfeiture are undisputed is irrelevant to whether the state engineer "adjudicates" a forfeiture issue in rejecting a change application on the ground that the water rights have been forfeited. Undisputed facts concerning nonuse are beside the point.

The more serious argument does not turn on whether facts are undisputed, but instead relies upon this court's implicit approval of a state engineer rejecting a change application on the ground that the water right had been forfeited by operation of law. Nephi City v. Hansen, 779 P.2d 673 (Utah 1989). In Nephi City, this court rejected Nephi City's argument that the forfeiture statute was unconstitutional as applied to municipalities. Nephi City advanced this argument after the state engineer rejected its change application on the ground that its "water rights were forfeited for nonuse by operation of law." Id. at 675. Importantly, Nephi City did not argue, as Ms. Hamblin does here, that the state engineer lacked the authority to adjudicate the issue of forfeiture in reviewing a change application, but instead relied only upon its specific constitutional challenge to the forfeiture statute itself. In other words, Nephi City involved whether the Utah State Constitution requires the exemption of municipalities from the forfeiture statute, not whether the state engineer has the authority to reject a change application based upon his own determination that the forfeiture statute could be satisfied, something that was neither briefed nor decided in Nephi City.³

In fact, because the state engineer's acts are purely ministerial, he lacks authority to reject a change application for a reason other than those specifically enumerated in the statutes governing his review of change applications: (i) there is no unappropriated water

³ Nephi City's brief confirms that the issue was not presented to the court.

The issue raised by this appeal is whether the State Engineer may constitutionally declare a municipal corporation's water right forfeited for non-use pursuant to section 73-1-4 U.C.A. 1953 as amended given the provisions of Article XI Section 6 of the Utah Constitution which in essence states that a municipality within the State of Utah may not transfer or dispose of its water rights except in exchange for a water right or water supply of equal value.

Opening Brief, Nephi City v. Hansen, Utah Supreme Court No. 860614 (Add. 11) at 2.

in the proposed source; (ii) the change would not impair existing rights or interfere with the more beneficial use of water; (iii) the change is physically or economically infeasible or would be detrimental to the public welfare; (iv) the applicant lacks the financial ability to take advantage of the change; or (v) the application is not made in good faith or is filed for purposes of speculation or monopoly.⁴ Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-3, -8(1) (2004).

Establishment of the factual predicate for forfeiture under a different statute, section 73-1-4, is conspicuously absent from that list, something previous state engineers have recognized. Shields v. Dry Creek Irrigation Co., 12 Utah 2d 98, 100, 363 P.2d 82 (1961) (state engineer “ruled that the question as to whether water once appropriated had reverted to the public [by] nonuse or abandonment required legal determinations which are generally beyond the jurisdiction of his office”).⁵

Nor does the state engineer gain that authority because a person submitting a change application must be “a person entitled to the use of water” under section 73-3-3. This language permits the state engineer to reject the application of a person who has no documented water right at all, but it does not permit the state engineer to disregard a documented water right based upon the state engineer’s own application of the forfeiture statute. An example from real property law illustrates the importance of this distinction.

⁴ While the state engineer argued that rejection was also appropriate due to impairment and a lack of unappropriated water in the proposed source, the district court “relie[d] on its . . . forfeiture analysis” in addressing those arguments. The district court reasoned that Ms. Hamblin could not demonstrate that there was unappropriated water at the new proposed source because her right had been forfeited. (R. 1200, Add. 1.)

⁵ It is true, however, that if Ms. Hamblin had failed to challenge the state engineer’s rejection of her change application directly, and later challenged that rejection collaterally in a case in which it was determined that Ms. Hamblin, in fact, had forfeited her water rights, then the state engineer’s rejection of the change application would not be reversed. Baugh v. Criddle, 19 Utah 2d 361, 362, 431 P.2d 790 (1967).

While a person must own real property to request and obtain a variance in the zoning code for that property, a county board of adjustment cannot deny a request for variance on the sole ground that an adjoining landowner could establish the elements of boundary by acquiescence if the adjoining landowner only initiated a quiet title action. For the board of adjustment to deny the request on that basis would be for it to “adjudicate” the boundary by acquiescence claim, something it cannot do.

Similarly here, the state engineer must “adjudicate” the forfeiture issue to reject the change application because the water right has been forfeited.⁶ Yet the state engineer lacks authority to adjudicate a water right, especially while considering a change application. Washington County Water Conservancy Dist. v. Morgan, 2003 UT 58, ¶ 16, 82 P.3d 1125 (“We doubt that the legislature intended the change application process to carry with it an increased risk of losing the rights underlying the application.”).

This court should reject the state engineer’s semantic argument concerning the term “adjudicate” and reverse the district court’s summary judgment rulings. Even if Ms. Hamblin had submitted her change application before the 1996 amendment, the state engineer lacked authority to reject Ms. Hamblin’s change application on the sole ground that the factual predicate for establishing forfeiture existed in 1985.

⁶ The procedures governing forfeiture of a water right must be strictly observed in favor of the owner and against the government. Massey v. Griffiths, 2005 UT App 410, ¶ 8, 131 P.3d 243 (because of harsh effects of tax forfeiture, statutes setting forth antecedents to forfeiting real property are to be construed strictly in favor of owner and against government); see also In re Penrod, 50 F.3d 459, 462 (7th Cir. 1995) (stating that the “forfeiture of [property] rights is disfavored”); Schuller v. D’Angelo, 458 N.Y.S.2d 501, 502 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 1983) (“the law looks with disfavor on automatic forfeitures of rights”); Sagewillow, Inc. v. Idaho Dep’t of Water Res., 70 P.3d 669, 674 (Idaho 2003) (“This Court has held . . . that abandonments and forfeitures are not favored.”).

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