2009

Marylin Hamblin v. Kent Jones : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

⁸⁷ *Nephi City*, 779 P.2d at 675.

Moreover, assuming, *arguendo*, retroactivity, a retroactive statute's impact is limited. It is not retroactive upon completed matters, but "future actions"⁸⁸ and "accrued and pending actions[.]"⁸⁹ In 1996, the completed forfeiture and reversion of Water Right No. 55-11041 was not a future, pending, or an accrued action, where "accrued" refers to a mature, but uninitiated, action. New procedural rules "do not affect proceedings completed prior to enactment."⁹⁰ Here, Hamblin argues that a new court judgment is necessary before her right may be considered forfeited.⁹¹ But, in reality, her right ceased and the water reverted to the public years before the 1996 amendment became effective.

Further, Hamblin asserts not only that the 1996 forfeiture statute is procedural and therefore retroactive, but that the retroactivity somehow revives an old, forfeited water right. Her assertion simply goes too far. If she needs the 1996 statute for her property interest to be viable, then the statute is not procedural—it is substantive. Using Hamblin's own cited language, statutes that "enlarge, eliminate or destroy" substantive rights are substantive.⁹² The 1996 statute's language that, upon five years of nonuse a water right ceases and the water reverts to the public, both "destroyed" Hamblin's substantive right and "enlarged" the

⁸⁸ *Marshall v. Industrial Comm'n of the State of Utah*, 704 P.2d 581, 582 (Utah 1985) (citation omitted).

⁸⁹ *Id.*

⁹⁰ *Dep't of Social Serv. v. Higgs*, 656 P.2d 998, 1000-1001 (Utah 1982) (citing *Drainage Dist. No. 7 of Washington County v. Bernards*, 174 P. 1167 (Or. 1918)).

⁹¹ See Appellant's Br. 4 (no judicial forfeiture of 55-11041), 15 and 18 ("judicial action is required to perfect a forfeiture claim and divest someone of vested rights").

⁹² *B.A.M. Dev., L.L.C. v. Salt Lake County*, 2006 UT 2, ¶ 20, 128 P.2d 1161.

rights of other right holders who, upon reversion, immediately began using the reverted water.⁹³

Finally, Hamblin's retroactivity argument hinges on the idea that since no forfeiture action has been filed concerning her water right, the right is valid for all purposes and the change application must be approved, notwithstanding lack of use under the right for decades. Her position requires the State Engineer and this Court to turn a blind eye to nonuse, assume the validity of the right, and ignore the vested rights of the other water users to whom the water that had been delivered under Hamblin's right reverted.

IV. EVEN IF, *ARGUENDO*, THIS COURT FINDS THAT A VERSION OF SECTION 73-1-4 SHOULD APPLY RETROACTIVELY, THIS COURT MAY UPHOLD THE TRIAL COURT'S RESULT ON ALTERNATIVE GROUNDS; NAMELY, THAT APPROVING HAMBLIN'S CHANGE APPLICATION WOULD IMPAIR THE RIGHTS OF OTHERS, THAT WITH OR WITHOUT A FORFEITURE FINDING NO UNAPPROPRIATED WATER IS AVAILABLE FOR HER CHANGE APPLICATION, OR THAT THE APPLICATION MAY NOT BE APPROVED BECAUSE HAMBLIN HAS NO CURRENT USE TO RELINQUISH

The district court ruled that Hamblin's Water Right No. 55-11041 forfeited by operation of law as of 1985 under the version of Section 73-1-4 in effect at that time. The Court also held that because Hamblin's right had been forfeited, she could not demonstrate unappropriated water exists in the proposed source of her new use under her change application and therefore she could not satisfy the requirement in Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-

⁹³ Just as a water user must rely on his own beneficial use to create a water right, (*Butler, Crockett & Walsh Dev. Corp. v. Pinecrest Pipeline Operating Co.*, 2004 UT 67, ¶ 24, 98 P.3d 1), users must maintain the use to prevent the right from forfeiting and the water from reverting to others.

8(1)(a).⁹⁴ The court ruled correctly. In the alternative, however, the court could have granted the State Engineer's summary judgment motion on other grounds. This is so because Hamblin's change application would have, contrary to Section 73-3-8(1)(b),⁹⁵ impaired existing rights. Or, the court could have found that, with or without a forfeiture determination, there was still no unappropriated water in the proposed source, contrary to Section 73-3-8(1)(a).⁹⁶ Or, the court could have found that Hamblin had no current use to relinquish as Section 73-3-3(1)(a)⁹⁷ requires. This Court could use any of these statutes, or a combination of the statutes, as an alternative basis to uphold the trial court's decision.

A. Approving Appellant's Change Application would Impair Other User's Rights.

Section 73-3-3 allows a person "entitled to the use of water" to file a change application. "Beneficial use [is] the basis, the measure, and the limit of all rights to the use of water in this state."⁹⁸ "A water user's appropriations are limited to the amount that can

⁹⁴ (West 2004).

⁹⁵ (West 2004).

⁹⁶ (West 2004).

⁹⁷ (West 2004).

⁹⁸ Utah Code Ann. § 73-1-3 (West 2004).

be put to beneficial use.”⁹⁹ In short, beneficial use matters and continuous beneficial use, or its equivalent,¹⁰⁰ is a pre-requisite to change application approval.

For example, Section 73-3-8(1)(a) and (b)¹⁰¹ require, before a change application may be approved, a showing of “unappropriated water in the proposed source” and that “the proposed use will not impair existing rights.” In a water system closed to new appropriations, the only “unappropriated” water available to the change applicant is the water being used under his own valid right.¹⁰² In 1995 the State Engineer closed to all new appropriations the area where Hamblin’s right is located.¹⁰³ The district court correctly found Hamblin could not meet the “unappropriated water” requirement because her right had been forfeited. But, *even if her right had not been forfeited* she still could not meet the requirement because all of the water in the area was being used by others, and neither Hamblin nor her predecessors in interest ever notified the State Engineer that they had

⁹⁹ *Green River Canal Co. v. Thayn*, 2003 UT 50, ¶ 34, 84 P.3d 1134; *see Butler, Crockett & Walsh Dev. Corp. v. Pinecrest Pipeline Operating Co.*, 2004 UT 67, ¶ 24; *see also Eden Irrigation Co. v. District Court*, 211 P. 957, 961 (Utah 1922).

¹⁰⁰ Statutes allow the owner of a water right to file a nonuse application with the State Engineer to preserve the validity of a right through extended nonuse periods. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 73-1-4 (1980) and § 73-1-4 (2) to (5) (West 2004). No such application has ever been filed with respect to Water Right No. 55-11041. (R. at 835—Mann Aff. at ¶ 14).

¹⁰¹ (West 2004).

¹⁰² *See Tanner v. Humphreys*, 48 P.2d 484, 487–88 (Utah 1935).

¹⁰³ R. at 837—Mann Aff. ¶ 5.

legitimate reasons for not beneficially using Water Right No. 55-11041 for a period of time.¹⁰⁴

Section 73-3-8(1)(b)¹⁰⁵ requires that the new use approved under a change application “will not impair existing rights.” Impairment results when, in a system closed to appropriation, a right unused for decades is put to use again. Such impairment need not necessarily be based on the prior forfeiture of the water right because when use is discontinued for a long period of time other water right holders will put the water to use and, if and when an area is later closed to new appropriations, no new uses may be made without impairment of other rights.¹⁰⁶

Likewise Hamblin implicitly assumes the State Engineer must carry the burden to prove impairment.¹⁰⁷ Hamblin, however, is affirmatively responsible to prove there is

¹⁰⁴ R. at 835—Mann Aff. ¶ 14.

¹⁰⁵ (West 2004).

¹⁰⁶ The district court declined to adopt this argument partly on the basis that the court lacked sufficient undisputed facts to show impairment would occur. (R. at 1203-1202). Where an area is closed to new appropriation, however, introduction of a new use of 39,000,000 gallons of water per year will, by definition, impair the rights of others in the area. This is particularly true in light of this Court’s ruling in *Piute Reservoir & Irrigation Co. v. West Panguich Irrigation & Reservoir Co.*, 367 P.2d 855, 858 (Utah 1962) (“[We have] never adopted the so-called ‘de minimus’ theory, which we understand to be that an application either to appropriate or change the diversion or use of water should be approved if the effect on prior vested rights is so small that courts will not be concerned therewith.”).

¹⁰⁷ Appellant’s Br. 6 and 23 (“[t]his court should reverse the district court’s summary judgment rulings and remand with instructions to enter summary judgment in favor of Ms. Hamblin.”).

“reason to believe”¹⁰⁸ her change application will not impair existing water rights.¹⁰⁹ And, circumstantial evidence may undermine her evidence.¹¹⁰ Hamblin has made no effort to shoulder this burden. She has yet to offer any evidence, to the State Engineer or the district court, that her change application will not impair vested water rights.

B. With or without a Forfeiture Finding, No Unappropriated Water is Available for Appellant’s Change Application.

*Tanner v. Humphreys*¹¹¹ illustrates the principles that a change applicant must have a valid water right to meet the “unappropriated” water in a system requirement and to show his proposed change will not impair other rights. Ms. Tanner filed an application to change the point of diversion, place, and nature of her use contained in the Provo River Decree (the same decree that recognized Hamblin’s water right).¹¹² Concerning Tanner’s burden this Court said:

In respect to the question as to whether it was necessary to show that there were unappropriated waters in the [new diversion points] sufficient to satisfy the claims of plaintiff in case the [change] application were granted, it appears that the plaintiff is not relying upon unappropriated waters [at the new diversion], but is relying upon an exchange which she proposes to give of her

¹⁰⁸ *Searle*, 2006 UT 16, ¶ 46.

¹⁰⁹ Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-3(7)(a) states “[t]he state engineer may not reject applications for either permanent or temporary changes for the sole reason that the change would impair the vested rights of others.” In a situation like Hamblin’s, however, impairment would not be the sole reason to reject her proposed change.

¹¹⁰ *Searle*, 2006 UT 16, ¶¶ 53, 56.

¹¹¹ 48 P.2d 484 (Utah 1935).

¹¹² *Id.* at 485.

water at the [former diversion point] for as much as she takes from the [new diversion].^{113]}

Thus, this Court recognized that the Section 73-3-8 requirement for “unappropriated” water is fulfilled by having an applicant relinquish his use at the initial diversion. As this Court said in *Tanner*, “[w]e think that all that the plaintiff asked and *all that she could get was an exchange of the waters* which she had under her right.”¹¹⁴ The water to fill Hamblin’s new, changed use must come from her beneficial use under Water Right No. 55-11041. In a closed system this is the only way a change application can be approved without impairing other rights. Where a water right has not been used for three decades, there is no “unappropriated water in the proposed source” as Section 73-3-8(1)(a) requires for a change application in a closed system, and any use re-initiated under such a right, let alone 39,000,000 gallons per year of use, will, by definition, impair existing rights. Further, regardless of all other considerations, Hamblin’s right lapsed under the terms of the Provo River Decree alone.¹¹⁵

C. Appellant’s Change Application Cannot be Approved because Appellant has No Use to Relinquish.

Another alternative ground this Court could use to uphold the result of the trial court’s ruling is the language of Section 73-3-3(4)(b)(vii), which states that the written application submitted by an applicant—embodying the beneficial use requirement—“shall” set forth “the

¹¹³ *Id.* at 487.

¹¹⁴ *Id.* at 488 (emphasis supplied).

¹¹⁵ *See supra* note 21.

place, purpose, and extent of the *present use*.”¹¹⁶ Likewise, under Section 73-3-3(4)(b)(v) the applicant must provide “the point on the stream or source where the water *is* diverted[.]”¹¹⁷ In other words, to be successful, a change applicant must, as employees in the State Engineer’s Office sometimes say, “give up one to get one.” Otherwise the original right is expanded, and change application approval may not enlarge the underlying right.¹¹⁸

Statutory requirements for the exercise of a privilege such as a change application are strictly construed.¹¹⁹ Section 73-3-3(1)(a) defines a “[p]ermanent change” as “a change for an indefinite period of time with an intent to *relinquish* the original point of diversion, place of use, or purpose of use.”¹²⁰ But, Hamblin has no current use to “relinquish” under Section 73-3-3.¹²¹ The change application statute recognizes beneficial use as the foundation

¹¹⁶ (West 2004) (emphasis supplied).

¹¹⁷ (West 2004) (emphasis supplied). Hamblin argued below that where there’s no current use, the information is not “applicable.” (R. at 808). However, the “if applicable” language to which Hamblin refers was inserted in 2008, after Hamblin submitted her application. (Laws 2008 c. 311, § 2, eff. May 5, 2008). But even if the current version applied, the stream diversion point must be supplied, (*i.e.* is “applicable”), for all rights except those where the use does not require a diversion. Rights without diversions include in-stream water flow rights for fish habitat or for wildlife consumption, etc.

¹¹⁸ See *Rocky Ford Irrigation Co. v. Kents Lake Reservoir Co.*, 135 P.2d 108, 113–14 (Utah 1943); *Tanner v. Humphreys*, 48 P.2d 484, 487 (Utah 1935); *Manning v. Fife*, 54 P. 111, 113 (Utah 1898).

¹¹⁹ *State Engineer v. Shepherd*, 2005 UT App 450 ¶ 9, 128 P.3d 6 (“Generally, when statutory requirements are unambiguous, parties are required to strictly comply with their terms. . . . This principle is no less valid when applied to water rights law.”).

¹²⁰ (West 2004) (emphasis supplied).

¹²¹ The trial court mistakenly focused on the word “original” in the definition,
(continued...)

principle because, to establish a “changed” diversion, place of use, or purpose of use, a water right owner must first “relinquish” his current diversion, place of use or purpose of use.¹²² The verb “relinquish,” like the remainder of the statute, is in the present tense. *Black’s Law Dictionary* defines “relinquish” as “[t]o abandon, to give up, to surrender, to renounce some right or thing,”¹²³ and the verb “change” as “cause to pass from one place to another; exchange.”¹²⁴ The statute requires a present surrender of an existing use.¹²⁵ It indicates a current beneficial use must be given up before as a new beneficial use begins. Hamblin’s change application on Water Right No. 55-11041 was properly denied, among many other reasons, because Hamblin has no current use to extinguish or exchange—she has no use to “give up” to keep the system whole when the new use begins if her change application is

¹²¹(...continued)

believing that as long as the previous place, purpose and diversion were no longer used, no more was required, even if the discontinuation of use occurred decades ago. The court also failed to analyze the definition in conjunction with the other indicia of current use requirements. The statute is present tense, and that, combined with Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-3(4)(b)(vii) (West 2004) (the applicant “shall set forth. . . the place, purpose, and extent of the present use”), and Utah Code Ann. § 73-1-3 (West 2004) (“beneficial use” as “the basis, the measure and the limit” of a water right), indicates a present use must be underway, and then relinquished, to accomplish a “change.”

¹²² Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-3(1)(a) and (4)(b)(v) and (vii) (West 2004).

¹²³ *Black’s Law Dictionary* 1292 (6th ed. 1990).

¹²⁴ *Black’s Law Dictionary* 231 (6th ed. 1990).

¹²⁵ The district court mentioned that it was “unwilling to interpret the statute in this manner without more authority.” (R. at 1203). This Court can create that authority and this case may provide an appropriate opportunity for it to do so.

approved. In this regard, the *Jenkins* decision from the Idaho Supreme Court contains this helpful language:

If a water right has indeed been lost through abandonment or forfeiture, the right to use that water reverts to the state and is subject to further appropriation. Other parties may then perfect a water right in those waters. Hence a person making a subsequent appropriation will be injured by resumption of the abandoned or forfeited water right. If a senior right has been abandoned or forfeited, the priority of the original appropriator is lost, and the junior appropriators move up the ladder of priority. ***If a senior right which had been forfeited or abandoned were allowed to be reinstated through a transfer proceeding, clearly injury would result to otherwise junior appropriators.*** Priority in time is an essential part of western water law and to diminish one's priority works an ***undeniable injury*** to that water right holder.^[126]

Although the Idaho Supreme Court contemplated recognition of forfeiture in deciding a change application, the same principle applies whether the right has been forfeited or simply unused for decades while the reverted water is used by others.

Where Hamblin has not used Water Right No. 51-11041 for at least 30 years she has no beneficial use to relinquish in exchange for the new use she proposes. Her application should, therefore, be summarily denied.

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